4-1° FULED SID J. WHITE JUL 19 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA/

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case Nos. 79,522 & 80,207 [TFB Case Nos. 91-31,241 (07C); 92-30,174 (07C); and 92-31,118 (07C)]

v.

JOHN D. RUE,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600 Attorney No. 217395

and

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a bar disciplinary proceeding involving two separate cases before the Supreme Court of Florida, Case numbers 79,522 and 80,207, which have been consolidated for purposes of hearing and discipline.

Case number 79,522 involves allegations of numerous instances of improper solicitation, improper monetary advances to clients, and improper business transactions with clients. The grievance committee found probable cause on January 8, 1992, and the bar's complaint was filed on March 16, 1992. The earlier case, case number 79,522, was assigned to the referee on April 2, 1992, and discovery was conducted.

Case number 80,207 involves the allegations of Paul and Karen Douglas, former clients of the respondent. It alleges that the respondent's contingent fee contract had an improper fee penalty for termination of his services; that the respondent failed to have the contract signed by the client, failed to provide a copy of the contract and statement of client's rights to the clients, and that the respondent's contract called for him to receive a clearly improper and excessive fee of ten percent (10%) of a client's personal injury protection (PIP) benefits for the simple nonlegal effort of filing medical bills with the insurance carrier. It also charged the respondent with lack of

-1-

diligence and lack of communication in regard to Mr. and Mrs. Douglas, lack of supervision of nonlawyer employees and attempted engagement in improper business activities with a client. Probable cause was found by the committee on July 1, 1992, and the bar's complaint was filed on July 22, 1992.

The respondent filed pleadings seeking dismissal of the charges due to the fact that no signed perjury statement was present in portions of the case. The Florida Bar responded pointing out the reason that the rule was inapplicable was that this was an investigation initiated by The Florida Bar and therefore the perjury statement was not required. A hearing was held on the respondent's First and Second Motions to Dismiss and Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on December 3, 1992, at which time the referee denied the respondent's motions.

On October 1, 1992, the referee consolidated the two complaints of The Florida Bar for purposes of final hearing and discipline. Also included in the consolidation was the Notice of Inclusion filed by The Florida Bar on November 23, 1992, alleging further misconduct by the respondent in regard to engaging in improper solicitation, engaging in a conflict of interest, engaging in an improper business deal with a client, failing to provide the client with a signed copy of the fee contract and statement of client's rights, and making misrepresentations to

-2-

the clients. Also charged, at paragraph six of The Florida Bar's Notice of Inclusion, was that the respondent deducted improper fees from a client's settlement. This last allegation was stricken by The Florida Bar prior to the conclusion of the final hearing.

The final hearing was held the entire week of February 15, The referee entered the Report of Referee on March 30, 1993. 1993, recommending that the respondent be found guilty of a portion of the allegations and that he receive the discipline of a public reprimand, six months probation requiring completion of an ethics course, and payment of a portion of The Florida Bar's costs in bringing about the discipline. The Board of Governors considered the referee's finding of facts and discipline at their May, 1993, meeting and voted to seek review of the referee's recommendations as to both facts and discipline, believing many of the factual findings to be clearly erroneous and to lack support in the evidence and the recommended discipline to be wholly inadequate. The respondent has filed a Cross-Petition for Review seeking review of the referee's denial of his motions to dismiss.

The facts are as follows: In case number 79,522, a Florida Bar investigation brought forth several allegations of improper in-person solicitation of personal injury clients by respondent. The Florida Bar initiated this grievance and none of the clients

-3-

alleged to have been improperly solicited complained to The Florida Bar.

In one instance, a police officer, Paul Schmitt, was injured in a motorcycle accident while off duty, T-Vol.I, 2-15-93, p. 91. He testified that he was approached by an investigator several times. The investigator, Ken Bucher, an independent contractor who worked for many area attorneys, allegedly urged the injured police officer to fire his original counsel and retain the respondent, respondent could better as the provide hím T-Vol.I, 2-15-93, pp. representation, 92-96. Mr. Bucher's testimony was contradictory. He maintained that he recommended three different attorneys, including the respondent, to the officer and approached him upon the request of a mutual friend, T-Vol.II, 2-18-93, pp. 176-180. Mr. Bucher further testified that he was aware of the criminal penalties for solicitation, that the respondent was his most consistent employer, and that he had handled over eighty-eight (88) cases for the respondent's firm, T-Vol.II, 2-18-93, pp. 168, 189. The referee accepted the investigator's version. The judge specifically found there was no evidence that the respondent authorized the contact and found the respondent not quilty, ROR-A-2-4.

Secondly, a female police officer, Beth Weyrauch, injured by a gunshot wound while on duty, testified that a different

-4-

investigator, a full time employee of the respondent's, Tom Hager, approached her and suggested that she fire her present counsel and retain the respondent in connection with her lawsuit against the police department for improper termination due to her injury, T-Vol.I, 2-16-93, pp. 85-87. The referee found the bar's witness lacking in credibility and found the respondent not guilty, noting that there was no evidence that the respondent was personally involved in any solicitation by Mr. Hager, ROR-A-4-5. The witness admitted that she was terminated from the police department a second time because she admittedly lied about an unrelated incident while on the job, T-Vol.I, 2-16-93, p. 91.

Thirdly, in 1988, Richard and Beth Austell were approached at the scene of their motorcycle accident by Don Beardslee, an investigator who worked regularly for the respondent. Mr. Beardslee told the Austells that they were injured and needed an attorney, gave them the respondent's business card with his name printed on it, and told them to call the number the next morning. They called the next morning and Mr. Beardslee drove to their residence with the respondent's contract, T-Vol.1, 2-15-93, pp. ultimately terminated the 11-17, 57-63. The Austells respondent's representation because they were uncomfortable about a lie Mr. Beardslee advised them to use. Mr. Beardslee, the Austells testified, told them to say they were personal friends of his prior to the accident, T-Vol.I, 2-15-93, pp. 20, 26. The

-5-

referee found no improper solicitation by the respondent because, the referee stated, there was no indication that the respondent caused, authorized, ratified, or knew of the improper solicitation, ROR-A-5. The respondent admitted paying Mr. Beardslee a fee for his work on the case, T-2-19-93, p. 42, and being questioned about the matter by Mr. Beardslee before Mr. Beardslee signed the clients up, T-Vol.II, 2-17-93, pp. 129-130.

Karen Boehm testified that she was seriously injured in a motorcycle accident in 1989 and received a message afterwards to call the respondent's office because they had photos of her accident. She called the respondent's office and the person answering the phone attempted to set her up with an appointment. Ms. Boehm did not recall the names of anyone to whom she spoke. When she advised the respondent's office that she already had counsel, she was told the respondent's office could not help her with the photos, T-Vol.1, 2-15-93, pp. 75-79. The referee did not comment specifically, but also found the respondent not guilty of solicitation in connection with this incident, ROR-A-5-6, 12.

Testimony was also given that an area tow truck company manager had found a stack of the respondent's business cards in one of his trucks after the truck driver's employment had been terminated, T-Vol.I, 2-17-93, pp. 63, 64. The respondent denied that the cards had been placed there for solicitation purposes.

-6-

The referee also recommended that the respondent be found not guilty of solicitation in this regard, without specific comment, ROR-A-6, 12.

Mr. Hugo Levi was allegedly told by a local motorcycle appraiser that the \$50.00 appraisal fee would be waived if he used the respondent's law firm to represent him in connection with his motorcycle accident, T-Vol.1, 2-17-93, pp. 65-66. Mr. Levi's affidavit was placed into evidence, Bar Ex. 44, and the bar's investigator testified as to his investigation in this regard. The motorcycle appraiser denied the allegation, Respondent's Ex. 10, and the referee recommended a not guilty finding as to improper solicitation, ROR-A-6, 12.

Mr. Donn Wolf testified that the respondent improperly solicited him in his hospital bed after a serious motorcycle accident, as charged in the Notice of Inclusion. He had already signed a contract with another law firm prior to any contact with the respondent. Mr. Wolf was adamant that he did not initiate the contact with the respondent, T-Vol.II, 2-15-93, pp. 114-117. The respondent testified that Mr. Wolf telephoned him and asked him to come to the hospital, T-Vol.II, 2-18-93, pp. 277-283. The referee recommended a not guilty finding as to improper solicitation, ROR-A-10-11, 14.

-7-

The respondent admitted to and was found guilty of improperly advancing monies to clients for living expenses, ROR-A-7, 12. These improper advances were occasional and took place over a substantial number of years, T-Vol.II, 2-16-93, p. 248. The respondent also loaned money to at least one nonlawyer employee who used the money to make an improper advance to clients, T-Vol.I, 2-18-93, pp. 118-120; T-Vol.II, 2-16-93, pp. 250-251.

The respondent also initiated improper business deals with many of his clients by selling them automobiles through his used car business. No precautions, such as disclosure and an opportunity to consult with other counsel, were taken to ensure that an arms-length transaction took place. Payment for the automobiles was made upon settlement of the client's cases. The referee recommended that the respondent be found guilty in this regard, ROR-A-8.

Further, the respondent admitted to paying his nonlawyer employees a "bonus" on each case which was a percentage of his fees in the case. The referee found no correlation between this bonus system and solicitation by nonlawyer employees, although the bar argued that the design of the plan was, in and of itself, a violation by making such an incentive available. The respondent was found quilty of improper fee sharing, ROR-A-7.

~8-

As to all of the above, the referee recommended that the respondent be found not quilty of the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-4.2 for communicating about the subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knew to be represented by another lawyer in the matter without the consent of the other lawyer; 4-5.3(a) for failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm had in effect measures giving reasonable assurance that his nonlawyer assistants' conduct was compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer; 4-5.3(b) for failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that his nonlawyer assistants' conduct was compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer; 4-5.3(C)(1)and 4-5.3(c)(2) for ordering, or with knowledge of the specific conduct, ratifying the involved conduct and/or failing to take reasonable remedial actions after knowing of the conduct at a time when its consequences could have been avoided or mitigated; 4-7.4(a) for soliciting, or permitting employees or agents to solicit in his behalf; for entering into agreements for, charging, or collecting a fee for professional employment obtained in violation of this rule; and 4-8.4(a) for violating, or attempting to violate, the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assisting or inducing another to do so, or doing so through the acts of another, ROR-A-11-13.

The respondent was found guilty of violating the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-5.4(a) for sharing fees with a

~9-

nonlawyer; 4-1.8(a) for entering into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquiring an ownership or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client; and 4-1.8(e) for providing financial assistance to a client in connection with pending or contemplated litigation in a manner not within the exceptions of Rule 4-1.8(e)(1) or (2), ROR-A-11-13.

Case number 80,207 involved Mr. and Mrs. Paul Douglas as the complaining witnesses. Beginning in 1990, the respondent represented Mr. and Mrs. Douglas in a personal injury lawsuit resulting from an automobile accident. The respondent failed to have Mrs. Douglas, who was the actual party in the auto accident, execute a contract or Statement of Client's Rights. Her husband did sign them, T-Vol.II, 2-16-93, pp. 160-163, 195-197, Bar Ex. 32. The respondent also failed to provide Mr. and Mrs. Douglas with either a copy of the contract or the statement of client's rights until months after their execution of the documents and then only upon their insistence, T-Vol.II, 2-16-93, pp. 162, 203-204.

Further, the contract widely in use at that time by the respondent provided for a fee of \$150.00 per hour to be immediately payable to the respondent if his representation was terminated, Bar Ex. 32. Mr. and Mrs. Douglas testified that when they attempted to terminate the respondent's representation, his paralegal threatened them with this portion of the contract.

-10-

They did not terminate the respondent's services because they could not afford to pay the respondent immediately, T-Vol.II, 2-16-93, pp. 166-168, 205-286. The contract also called for ten percent (10%) of the personal injury protection (PIP) benefits to go to the respondent should the client wish the respondent to recover these for the client by filing the rudimentary paperwork required for these benefits which are automatically payable upon demand by statute. This fee was in addition to the respondent's The referee standard one-third contingency fee, Bar Ex. 32. found that none of the above adversely affected Mr. and Mrs. Douglas. The referee recommended that the respondent be found violating Professional Conduct: Rules of not quilty of 4-1.5(f)(2) for failing to have the written contingent fee contract signed by the client; and 4-1.5(f)(4)(c) for failing to give a copy of the Statement of Client's Rights to the client, failing to have it signed by the client and failing to afford the client a full and complete opportunity to understand each of the rights set forth therein. A guilty finding was recommended as to Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-1.5(a) for entering into an agreement for, charging, or collecting an illegal, prohibited, fee pursuant to 4-1.5(b); and and/or clearly excessive 4-1.5(f)(4)(B) for having a written contingent fee contract exceeding thirty-three and one-third percent (33 1/3%) of the recovery in regard to the PIP charges, ROR-A-8-10.

-11-

The respondent was also charged with neglect and failure to supervise his nonlawyer employees because Mrs. Douglas testified that she never met or communicated with the respondent prior to the time of the settlement of her case and that all communications were handled through the paralegal, T-Vol.I, 2-16-93, pp. 173-178.

The respondent's office manual for paralegals was mainly drafted by the respondent's nonlawyer brother who testified that he had never heard of any rules of ethics for attorneys, T-Vol.II, 2-17-93, pp. 233-234. The manual called for the paralegals to conduct all aspects of the clients' cases, Bar Ex. 47. At the final hearing, there was testimony that the paralegal work was in fact supervised by attorneys.

The referee recommended a not guilty finding as to the above and to the following Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4(b) for failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; Rules 4-5.3(a)and (b) for failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm had in effect measures giving reasonable assurance that a nonlawyer employee's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer; 4-5.3(c) for being responsible for the

-12-

conduct of his nonlawyer employees and that such conduct would be a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer; and 4-5.5(b) for assisting a person who is not a member of the bar in the performance of an activity that constituted the unlicensed practice of law.

The respondent was also charged with engaging in a conflict of interest by attempting to sell Mr. Douglas an automobile. There was conflicting testimony in this regard and no sale ever took place. A not guilty finding was recommended as to Rule 4-1.7(b) for representing a client if the lawyer's exercise of independent professional judgment in the representation of that client may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third person or by the lawyer's own interest without client consent; and 4-1.8(a) for entering into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquiring an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client without complying with the requirements of 4-1.8(a)(1-3), ROR-A-13-14.

By stipulation, the bar made further allegations against the respondent in a Notice of Inclusion. The respondent was further charged with improperly soliciting his client Donn Wolf as described above. Further, as to Donald DeCicco, the respondent was charged with improper solicitation. Donald DeCicco, a minor,

-13-

was a passenger on the motorcycle of John Gormon, the driver, who was also a minor. John Gormon's mother telephoned the respondent to retain his services while John was in the hospital. While visiting the Gormons at the hospital, the respondent also signed up Donald DeCicco as a client, T-Vol.II, 2-15-93, pp. 168-211. The respondent stated that John Gormon's mother asked him to contact the DeCiccos, however Mrs. Gormon denied this and further testified that she had no authority to retain counsel for the DeCiccos, T-Vol.III, 2-15-93, pp. 245-261.

The respondent was also charged with being involved in selling Donald DeCicco an automobile. The payment for the car was by a promissory note payable from Donald DeCiccos' personal injury settlement and this was reflected on his settlement statement, Bar Ex. 19. A conflict of interest violation was also charged because the respondent represented both the passenger and the driver and the issue of the driver's contributory negligence was specifically charged in pleadings, as the insurance defense attorney testified, T-Vol.I, 2-17-93, pp. 18-22.

Misrepresentation was also charged because the DeCiccos testified that they were told they had only twenty-four hours to accept the settlement offer or it would be withdrawn by the insurance defense counsel, T-Vol.II, 2-15-93, p. 189. The

-14-

insurance defense counsel testified that no such time limit was ever given, T-Vol.I, 2-17-93, p. 25. The respondent testified that he did not tell the DeCiccos there was a time limit but an associate attorney in his office may have done so, T-Vol.II, 2-17-93, pp. 143-144.

Clients DeCicco and Gormon, in addition to Douglas, did not receive a signed copy of their contract and Statement of Client's Rights at the time of execution, T-Vol.II, 2-17-93, pp. 142-143; T-Vol.II, 2-16-93, pp. 203-204. Further, clients DeCicco and Gormon were never presented with any Statement of Client's Rights by the respondent at any time, T-Vol.II, 2-17-93, pp. 142-143, 172-174.

The referee recommended a not guilty finding as to all of the above, stating only that the allegations were not established by clear and convincing evidence as to Rules of Professional Conduct: 4-7.4(a) for improper solicitation; 4-1.7(a) for conflict of interest; and 4-1.5 for failing to provide a Statement of Client's Rights for signature and copies of the Statement of Client's Rights and contract to the client after execution. The referee also found no clear and convincing evidence for violations of Rules 4 - 1.4(b)for inadequate communication with clients; and 4-8.4(c) for misrepresentation in regard to the fraudulent twenty-four hour time limit statement, ROR-A-14.

-15-

Paragraphs six and eight of the bar's complaint regarding an improper fee and the improper delay of a settlement check were stricken by The Florida Bar as they were unsupported by final hearing testimony.

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