047

FILED SID J. WHITE

OCT 11 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court
Case Nos. 79,522 and 80,207

v.

JOHN D. RUE,

Respondent.

On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Disciplinary Proceeding.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF AND INITIAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN A. WEISS Counsel for Respondent The Florida Bar No. 0185229 P.O. Box 1167 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-1167 (904) 681-9010

and

PATRICIA S. ETKIN Co-Counsel for Respondent The Florida Bar No. 290742 8181 West Broward Blvd., Suite 262 Plantation, Florida 33324 (305) 424-9272

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A Referee's findings and recommendations must be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without evidentiary support. In the instant case, the Referee found Respondent not guilty of most of the charges, including all allegations of solicitation. The Florida Bar has not proven that the Referee's findings of fact or not guilty recommendations are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidence. Accordingly the Referee's findings and not guilty recommendations must be upheld.

The evidence established and Respondent admitted that he created a profit-sharing plan wherein clerical employees were paid a flat bonus in cases which resulted in a substantial recovery and legal assistants would share in a percentage of the attorney's fee in cases which they were assigned to process. No wrongful intent by Respondent was shown. Respondent's plan was found to be a violation of Rule 4-5.4(a), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The evidence established and Respondent admitted that he made advances to clients in some limited instances for living expenses where hardship was present contrary to Rule 4-1.8(e).

In addition Respondent sold automobiles to several clients through a dealership which he owned. In some instances, payment was made from proceeds later collected on behalf of the client. Respondent acknowledged that he did not always provide to the client a written disclosure relating to potential conflict. Nor did he obtain the client's written consent waiving the potential conflict. However, no harm to any client was shown. Respondent's

actions in this regard were found to violate Rules 4-1.8(a) and (e).

Finally, Respondent included in his employment contract two provisions which were found to violate Rules 4-1.5(A) and 4-1.5(F)(4)(b). The first involves giving a client the option of collecting PIP benefits on his own without a fee or through Respondent's efforts at a 10% fee. The second is a termination clause which permitted Respondent to collect a \$150.00 per hour fee upon discharge.

None of the conduct referenced above was based upon a complaint filed by a client but was, in fact, a byproduct of intensive scrutiny during the course of an overly broad investigation undertaken by The Florida Bar.

Respondent maintains that his actions warrant no greater disciplinary sanction than that recommended by the Referee, to wit: a public reprimand, six-months probation requiring completion of an ethics course and payment of one-half of the investigator and transcript costs.

Notwithstanding this position, Respondent maintains that a dismissal is fully justified in this case based upon The Florida Bar's violations of its own Disciplinary Rules by proceeding with its investigation under the guise of The Florida Bar as the Complainant. In this manner The Florida Bar sought to intentionally circumvent for the benefit of lawyer-complainants the requirement that complaints be in writing and under oath.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT IS NOT GUILTY OF SOLICITATION IS FULLY SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND, THEREFORE, SHOULD BE UPHELD.

As acknowledged by The Florida Bar, it is well established that a Referee's findings and recommendations will be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Bajoczky, 558 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1990); The Florida Bar v. Marks, 492 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986). Further, it is the function of the Referee to weigh the credibility of witnesses and, as the fact finder for the Supreme Court, to resolve conflicts in the evidence. The Florida Bar v. MacMillan, 600 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker 475 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986).

Based upon this principle, The Florida Bar has the heavy burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support the Referee's findings. This is clearly a much greater burden than merely demonstrating that the record contains some evidence which would support the factual allegations set forth in its Complaint.

In the instant case The Florida Bar has failed to meet this burden and has instead presented its version of the testimony and evidence which is contrary to the Referee's factual findings. In order to grant the relief requested by the Bar, this Court would by necessity assume the role of a second trier of fact, reweighing the

credibility of the witnesses and the evidence presented over the five days of final hearing. This Court has consistently refused to accept this role. In <u>The Florida Bar v. MacMillan, 600 So.2d 457</u> (Fla. 1992), this Court held:

If findings of the Referee are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court is <u>precluded</u> from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the Referee. (Emphasis added)

Unable to demonstrate that the Referee's findings are clearly erroneous, Complainant's brief instead focuses on the evils of solicitation. However, the record reflects that Respondent is in full agreement with this position: solicitation is evil and not to be tolerated. As Respondent commented, an allegation of solicitation is serious and can ruin a firm (TR 257, 2/18/93, II).

Respondent's concern about solicitation is demonstrated by his actions. Respondent first learned of the allegation involving the solicitation of AUSTELL from STARK (TR 256, 2/18/93, II); TR 18, 2/16/93, II). Upon learning of the allegations, Respondent spoke with BEARDSLEE (TR 256, 2/18/93, II), as well as his other employees. His concern in this regard is further manifested by his efforts to establish a personnel system to ensure control over his nonlawyer employees (TR 258, 2/18/93, II).

With respect to AUSTELL, The Florida Bar overlooks the fact that the AUSTELLS were allegedly solicited by BEARDSLEE on March 3, 1988, immediately following a motorcycle accident. It is undisputed that BEARDSLEE was fortuitously present at the scene of the accident. Under any reasonable interpretation of the testimony

and evidence, it would be illogical to conclude that Respondent knew in advance of the AUSTELL'S accident and directed BEARDSLEE to initiate the contact. The Referee properly found that there is no evidence that Respondent "caused, authorized, ratified or knew of the improper solicitation of the AUSTELLS by BEARDSLEE" (RR 5).

The fact that Respondent initially sought to place a lien for attorney fees upon termination of his representation of AUSTELL or that he did not report the allegations involving BEARDSLEE'S 1988 conduct to law enforcement agencies upon learning of the allegation in 1990 does not constitute evidence sufficient to establish that the Referee's findings of not guilty as to the solicitation of AUSTELL is clearly erroneous.

Moreover, the record does not reflect any evidence that either the profit-sharing program (i.e., bonus) for Respondent's nonlawyer employees or loans to employees was in any way related to solicitation. On the contrary, bonuses were given to <u>all</u> clerical staff in recoveries over \$50,000 and to legal assistants at the conclusion of the particular case which they were assigned to process. There was no evidence of any payment to any nonlawyer employee or any other party for the referral of a case.

With respect to SCHMITT, Respondent testified that he did not ask BUCHER to approach SCHMITT and he did not know of the contact by BUCHER (TR 273, 2/18/93, II).

BUCHER was not Respondent's employee; he was an independent contractor who was hired by Respondent to perform accident reconstruction (TR 109, 2/17/93, II). Although Respondent has

accepted clients who have been recommended by BUCHER, he has never paid BUCHER for any referrals (TR 273, 1/18/93, II) and there was no evidence presented to the contrary.

The Referee properly found that "there was no evidence that Respondent caused, authorized, ratified or even knew about any contact between BUCHER and SCHMITT" (RR 4).

With respect to the alleged solicitation of WEYRAUCH, the Referee found WEYRAUCH "not to be credible" (possibly because her employment as a police officer was terminated because she lied during an investigation). The Referee further found that Respondent would not have undertaken WEYRAUCH'S labor law case because he did not do that type of work.

Based upon the foregoing, the Referee properly found Respondent not guilty of solicitation of WEYRAUCH and SCHMITT. In support of its position, The Florida Bar merely asserts that SCHMITT and WEYRAUCH had nothing to gain by their testimony. This assertion does not constitution even an attempt to meet the burden of demonstrating that the Referee's findings are clearly erroneous.

With regard to BOEHM, Respondent testified that he never heard of her and did not know about any photographs (TR 274, 2/18/93, II). In fact, ironically, BOEHM'S testimony that once she advised Respondent's office that she had an attorney she was told that they couldn't help her (TR 77, 2/15/93, I) further supports Respondent's position that his staff is instructed to say that they cannot help any caller who is represented by an attorney (TR 275, 2/18/93, II).

There is no testimony or evidence that Respondent ever had any

contact, either directly or indirectly with BOEHM, or that he or his staff tried to persuade her to discharge her counsel and retain Respondent. The Referee properly found Respondent not guilty. In its brief, The Florida Bar does not cite any evidentiary basis to demonstrate that this finding is clearly erroneous.

Further, as indicated by the Referee's findings, the Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence any solicitation regarding the tow truck company or M.A.S. Appraisal. The Bar's only evidence was hearsay testimony presented by the Bar's investigator, a clearly prejudiced witness. The Bar could not even produce the name of the driver of the tow truck at issue. Its only evidence as to M.A.S. was the affidavit of LEVI, prepared by TAYLOR, which suggests that M.A.S. Appraisal offered to waive the \$50 appraisal fee if Respondent was retained. That double-hearsay evidence was rebutted by the testimony of PAPSIDERO. In its brief, the Bar does not even attempt to demonstrate that the Referee's findings as to these allegations is incorrect.

With respect to WOLF, Respondent testified that he called WOLF on April 16, 1993 in response to a telephone message from his answering service (TR 276-279, 2/18/93, II; R.EX 7) and made an appointment to talk to him at the hospital on April 18, 1993. While WOLF may not recall the conversation because of his condition, he did not deny that he requested Respondent to visit him in the hospital and does, in fact, recollect that Respondent was the first attorney he called (TR 131-132, 2/15/93, II). The

Referee considered the testimony and found that WOLF hired Respondent to represent him of his own initiative (RR 11). The Florida Bar does not demonstrate that the Referee's finding in this regard is clearly erroneous. In fact, The Florida Bar merely asserts that WOLF "had previously signed a contract with other counsel" (BF 26). This assertion is irrelevant to the issue of whether Respondent solicited the representation of WOLF.

With regard to DE CICCO, it is undisputed Mrs. GORMAN called Respondent to represent her son and that his presence in the hospital was pursuant to his representation of GORMAN (TR 248, 250, 259, 2/15/93, III). While at the hospital, Respondent met Mr. DE CICCO and after a brief meeting in the hospital hallway,

Moreover, while arguing the impropriety of Respondent's contact with WOLF, The Florida Bar conveniently overlooks the obvious impropriety concernng the actions of the Troutman law firm who contacted WOLF at the request of a former client CARYL, a friend of made by а nonlawyer was Contact with WOLF WOLF. employee/investigator at the direction of Troutman or another attorney in the firm. Upon learning that WOLF had already retained counsel, the investigator was irate with CARYL for having wasted his time in sending him to see WOLF "basically on a sure thing." (TR 101, 1/18/93, I). As noted by the Referee, "When WOLF signed the contract on April 16, 1990, with another law firm he was likely under the influence of morphine having just recently been released from intensive care. Further, this law firm was not contacted by WOLF but by a friend on his behalf" (RR 11). If any conduct fits squarely within the solicitation prohibitions of Spence, Payne, Masington and Grossman, PA. v Philip M. Gerson, P.A, 483 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), it is the conduct of The Florida Bar's own The testimony presented, in conjunction with the comments of the Referee, leaves a question as to whether The Florida Bar has initiated a solicitation investigation with respect to their own witnesses and if not, why not?

Mr. DE CICCO retained Respondent to represent his son DE CICCO (R.EX 15 at 8). It is undisputed that DE CICCO and GORMAN and their families were close friends (almost family), that they were involved in the same accident and that both families thought of the accident case as one case (TR 178-79, 2/15/93, II; 261-2/15/93, II). The Referee found that The Florida Bar failed to prove its allegation of solicitation of DE CICCO by clear and convincing evidence (RR 11).

It is Respondent's position that the Referee's findings of fact and recommendation of not guilty as to solicitation are overwhelmingly supported by substantial, competent evidence. While The Florida Bar may disagree with the Referee, The Florida Bar has not met its burden of establishing that the findings and recommendations are either clearly erroneous or without evidentiary support. Accordingly, the Referee's findings of fact and recommendation of not guilty should be upheld.

II. RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT WARRANTS A DISCIPLINARY SANCTION NO GREATER THAN A PUBLIC REPRIMAND, PROBATION, AN ETHICS COURSE AND PARTIAL PAYMENT OF COSTS AS RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE.

The Florida Bar's most serious allegation against Respondent was that he "caused, authorized, and or ratified the improper solicitation of clients to his office." The Referee found Respondent not guilty on any solicitation charge. Moreover, in finding Respondent not guilty the Referee found that The Florida Bar's allegations were not proven by clear and convincing evidence. Significantly, in most instances, the Referee noted that there was

no evidence to substantiate the solicitation allegations, to wit:

As to SCHMITT:

There is <u>no evidence</u> that Respondent caused, authorized, ratified or <u>even knew</u> about any contact between BUCHER and SCHMITT. (Emphasis added). (RR 4)

As to WEYRAUCH:

[T]here is no evidence that the Respondent was involved in any solicitation by Mr. HAGAR, if it did occur. (RR 4)

As to AUSTELL:

There is <u>no evidence</u> that the Respondent caused, authorized, ratified, or knew of the improper solicitation of the AUSTELLS by Mr. BEARDSLEE. (RR 5)

* * *

[T]here is <u>no evidence</u> the Respondent's employees improperly solicited clients. There is also <u>no evidence</u> that Respondent made loans to his employees against the anticipated generation of fees in the future. (RR 7)

With regard to the allegation that Respondent paid his investigator a percentage of fees generated by the investigator's solicitation of cases:

There was no credible evidence presented to support this allegation. (RR 7)

Moreover, the Referee found that there was no clear and convincing evidence as to most of the remaining charges. In fact, the only charges of which Respondent was found guilty were those which he admitted. Accordingly, the issue then becomes the appropriateness of the discipline based upon the misconduct which Respondent admitted and the Referee specifically found him guilty, to wit: payment of bonuses in 1990 and 1991 to his legal assistants which consisted of a percentage of the fee received (RR

7); advancing funds to clients for living expenses (RR 8); automobile sales to clients without written disclosure and transmittal to the client without reasonable opportunity for the client to seek the advice of independent counsel, and without written client consent (RR 8); improper contract clauses, specifically a fee of \$150 per-hour upon termination and a fee of 10 % to collect PIP benefits (RR 9). These clauses were utilized by Respondent from approximately 1989 through 1991.

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